2010

Liston v. Liston : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Section 78A-4-103(2)(h), as this is a final order involving a domestic relations case. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-4-103(2)(h) (2008).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue # 1: Whether the District Court abused its discretion in finding that petitioner's debts incurred solely by herself during the marriage, and without any knowledge, consent, input or control of the respondent should be shared by the respondent.

Standard of Review: Appellate courts give great deference to the trial court's findings of fact in divorce cases and will not overturn them unless they are clearly erroneous. *Kimball v. Kimball*, 2009 UT App 233, ¶ 14, 217 P.3d 733; *Stonehocker v. Stonehocker*, 2008 UT App 11, ¶ 9, 176 P.3d 476.

Whether property is marital or separate is "primarily . . . a question of law; therefore, we review the trial court's legal conclusions concerning the nature of property for correctness." *Bradford v. Bradford*, 1999 UT App 373, ¶ 11, 993 P.2d 887 (citing *Jefferies v. Jefferies*, 895 P.2d 835, 836 (Utah Ct.App.1995) (considering whether 401(k) plan is marital property)).

Issue Preserved for Appeal: At trial evidence was presented to show that the trial court abused its discretion by finding that charges made exclusively by Appellee during the marriage should be shared by the Appellant. There was no evidence presented

as to the purpose for Appellee's credit purchases. The only evidence presented was the outstanding balances owing, and Appellee's vague and ambiguous testimony. (Ex. 54-55; R. 118-19, 162, 178, 263, 280-84, 326-27.

Issue # 2: Whether the Court abused its discretion by separating out water shares that were admitted to be "appurtenant" to their marital home on 1835 Gunderson Lane, Salt Lake City, Utah from the parties' mediated settlement contract which provided that the respondent be awarded all of petitioner's interest in the property in exchange for respondent paying petitioner \$ 10,000.

Standard of Review: Although appellate courts give great deference to a trial court's factual findings, conclusions of law arising from those findings are reviewed for correctness and given no special deference on appeal. *Keiter v. Keiter*, 2010 UT App 169, ¶ 16, 235 P.3d 782.

"Trial courts have considerable discretion in determining . . . property distribution in divorce cases, and will be upheld on appeal unless a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion is demonstrated.'" *Stonehocker v. Stonehocker*, 2008 UT App 11, ¶ 8, 176 P.3d 476 (quoting *Howell v. Howell*, 806 P.2d 1209, 1211 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)). "[W]e review the trial court's legal conclusions concerning the nature of property for correctness." *Bradford v. Bradford*, 1999 UT App 373, ¶ 11, 993 P.2d 887.

Issue Preserved for Appeal: At trial sufficient evidence was presented that a partial agreement had been reached at mediation whereat each party was represented by legal counsel. Petitioner testified that she was fully aware of the water shares appurtenant to the land acquired during the marriage. Petitioner's attorney drafted the

partial agreement which made no reference to the water shares. The agreement itself specifically provides for a payment of \$10,000.00 to petitioner in exchange for all of her interest in the property which appertained to the water shares.

Issue # 3: Whether the Court abused its discretion by finding that Appellant commingled premarital financial accounts and cash gifts from his mother made during the marriage with another account in which Appellant deposited traceable income earned during the marriage and paid business operation expenses and personal living expenses; and whether Appellant's premarital accounts lost their identity and character as separate property by temporarily depositing them into a joint account with the Appellee to protect them from seizure by his former spouse.

Standard of Review: the standard of review is abuse of discretion:

“A trial court has considerable discretion concerning property [division] in a divorce proceeding, thus its actions enjoy a presumption of validity.” *Jensen v. Jensen*, 2009 UT App 1, ¶ 6, 203 P.3d 1020 (quoting *Elman v. Elman*, 2002 UT App 83, ¶ 17, 45 P.3d 176) (alteration in original) (additional internal quotation marks omitted). On appeal, we therefore “will not disturb a property award unless we determine that there has been a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, the evidence clearly preponderates against the findings, or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.” *Id.* (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). Further, “[w]e review the legal adequacy of findings of fact for correctness as a question of law.” *Id.*

Kimball v. Kimball, 2009 UT App 233, ¶¶ 4-5, 217 P.3d 733.

Issue Preserved for Appeal: At trial sufficient evidence was presented to show that the parties knowingly and intentionally kept their finances separate. Appellant admitted and bank statements proved that he made marital transactions, but also the evidence was that on one occasion only, did the Appellant make a temporary transfer of

his funds to an account in the sole name of the Appellee, which was for the intended purpose to protect those funds from his former wife. Once his fear of her accessing those funds had passed, he transferred the funds back to himself in an account under his name only.

Issue # 4: Whether the trial court erred as a matter of law and abused its discretion by independently accessing respondent's prior divorce action, and referring to it while conducting its own interrogation of the respondent at trial, and referencing it in the court's memorandum findings of fact, without prior notice to counsel.

Standard of Review: This is a question of law which the court reviews for correctness without deference to the district court. *Spears v. Warr*, 2002 UT 24, ¶ 32, 44 P.3d 742 (questions of law reviewed for correctness).

Issue Preserved for Appeal: At trial sufficient record was made in the transcript that the trial court independently accessed and familiarized itself with the appellant's prior divorce action in the Second District Court. The transcripts show that the trial court referenced appellant's prior divorce action in conducting its own fact finding interrogation of the appellant while he was on the witness stand during trial.

Issue # 5: Whether the Court abused its discretion by awarding Appellee attorney fees and denying Appellant attorney fees.

Standard of Review: “[B]oth the decision to award attorney fees and the amount of such fees are within the trial court’s sound discretion. However, the trial court’s award or denial of attorney fees must be based on evidence of the financial need of the receiving

spouse, the ability of the other spouse to pay, and the reasonableness of the requested fees.” *Stonehocker v. Stonehocker*, 2008 UT App 11, ¶ 10, 176 P.3d 476 (alteration in original) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). An attorney fee must be based upon sufficient findings. *Davis v. Davis*, 2003 UT App 282, ¶ 14, 76 P.3d 716.

Issue Preserved for Appeal: At trial, Appellant testified that he incurred attorney fees in successfully defending himself against Appellee’s petition to obtain a protective order. Appellant’s testimony and the evidence was further that he lacks resources to pay attorney fees to Appellee; further that he prevailed on many of the disputed issues at trial. (R. 388-94.)

**PROVISIONS OF CONSTITUTIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, AND
REGULATIONS WHICH ARE DETERMINATIVE OR OF CENTRAL
IMPORTANCE**

There are no constitutional provisions, ordinances, or regulations that are determinative of this case.

Statutes:

UTAH CODE ANN. § 30-3-5(1) (2007) provides, in relevant part:

(1) When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, debts or obligations, and parties.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 30-3-3(1) (2007) provides:

30-3-3. Award of costs, attorney and witness fees -- Temporary alimony.

(1) In any action filed under Title 30, Chapter 3, Divorce, Chapter 4, Separate Maintenance, or Title 78B, Chapter 7, Part 1, Cohabitant Abuse Act, and in any action

to establish an order of custody, parent-time, child support, alimony, or division of property in a domestic case, the court may order a party to pay the costs, attorney fees, and witness fees, including expert witness fees, of the other party to enable the other party to prosecute or defend the action. The order may include provision for costs of the action.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final order entered on July 15, 2010 arising from a two-day bench trial in a divorce proceeding before Judge Robert K. Hilder, Third District Court, Salt Lake County. The findings of fact issued by the Court on July 2, 2010 was reduced to a final divorce decree that was entered on July 15, 2010. Each party testified that they had been married and divorced once before. Each testified that they intentionally kept all of their finances and debts separate and that neither made any contributions to any financial assets of the other.

During the marriage respondent made transfers of premarital funds and funds given him by his mother into accounts in Fidelity Investments that were held under his “Liston Family Trust.” During the marriage a portion of his funds were temporarily transferred into a joint marital account with the Appellee for approximately six months. It was conceded that he alone used and managed these funds. The transfer was for a brief period of approximately six months, and was made to avoid seizure by his former spouse. A separate account at Barnes Bank was used as a depository for respondent’s earnings

derived during the marriage and to pay business operating expenses that were incurred to generate that income.

Also during the marriage, the parties purchased a marital home located at 1835 East Gundersen Lane, Salt Lake City, Utah. In the course of participating in mandatory divorce mediation with their respective legal counsel, the parties and their legal counsel entered into a partial stipulation in which the Appellee agreed to grant respondent a quitclaim deed to convey to him all of her interest therein in exchange for \$10,000.00 in full settlement of any claims she had therein.

Appurtenant to the real property were four water shares issued through Holliday Water Company. Appellee called a witness from the water company, who testified that the number of shares determines how much water the owner can use without incurring an additional fee. At least one share must remain with the land, but a single share would be inadequate for normal water consumption. At trial the Appellee argued that water shares, which specifically state on their face are “appurtenant” to the land, should be segregated out from the mediation contract and that she should be awarded an equitable share of the water shares. The trial court agreed and made a finding of fact as to the value of each share, then made an award thereof to the Appellee.

During the trial the court accessed the docket from Appellant’s prior divorce action in Second District, Davis County, Utah. The court independently and without request or advance notice to either party’s counsel, referred to that docket and conducted its own interrogation of the Appellant while he was under oath. The court made several references to Appellant’s prior divorce action during the trial and in making its findings

of fact and orders under the decree. Appellant asserts that the court exceeded its authority as an impartial finder of fact and improperly conducted its own discovery and became an adversary to the Appellant. The court was biased against the Appellant, which manifested itself in the manner in which it exercised its discretionary authority in determining and dividing the marital estate.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 24 and 25, 2010 a trial was conducted before Third District Court Judge Robert K. Hilder. Each party provided sworn testimony on disputed issues that were certified for trial. The parties were both 73 years old at the time of trial. (Findings, 1.) Each were married and divorced twice before. (R. 272-73, 298.) The parties cohabited approximately in 1999 while Appellant was in the process of obtaining his second divorce and married in May 2002. (R. 21; Findings, 2.)

Appellee testified that her monthly income consists of \$1,055.00 per month in Social Security income. (R. 278.) She pays out approximately \$2,100.00 per month in minimum payments for her five credit card payments in addition to approximately \$950.00 for trailer rent and utilities (R. 278-279), but did not introduce a financial declaration statement as an exhibit (R. 276).

Appellant testified with regards to Appellee's Exhibit 8 that after deducting \$78.20 for Medicare, he receives \$1,368.00 per month in Social Security income and an additional \$200.00 per month from an annuity. He also receives a variable amount of income from a Fidelity annuity that at one time was \$459.00 per month but is impacted

by market conditions. (R. 312, 314-15; Appellee's Ex. 8; Appellant's Ex. 15.) From this income, Appellant paid \$1,254.06 against the mortgage on the Gundersen Lane marital home. (R. 315.) Appellant further testified that his monthly expenses are \$5,068.49. (Appellant's Ex. 15.)

Appellant's Mountain Lion Engineering Business

Sometime between 1999 and 2000, Appellant formed a corporation doing business as "Mountain Lion Engineering." Mountain Lion Engineering was a corporation that Appellant started up prior to the marriage after being laid off. (R. 307-08.) Appellant performed freelance engineering consultation in this business for a time during the marriage. (R. 10, 54, 442.) Appellant deposited monies earned in this business during the course of the marriage into a Barnes Banking account. (R. 54-56, 59, 420-21; Ex. 9, 59.) Some of his earnings were paid for consulting services to Conestoga Cold Storage. (R. 309; Ex. 10.)

The Barnes Bank account was permissibly held under the name of Appellant's mother Lorena K. Liston. (R. 112, 302-03; Ex. 27.) Appellant used the Barnes Bank account to pay for business operation expenses for Mountain Lion Engineering. (R. 311, 421, Ex. 59.) Some of Appellants' earnings received during the marriage were also deposited into his Fidelity Investments account. (R. 422; Exhibits 31-35.)

Appellant's management and transfers of funds in different accounts during marriage

Appellant testified that there never was a joint bank account. (R. 326.) The evidence admitted includes a single financial account held in Appellant's name only.

(Appellee's Ex. 36.) Appellant transferred funds from the Barnes Bank account into his premarital Fidelity Investments Account. (R. 56, 113-14; Ex. 9, 59.) Appellant used his mother's bank account for years. (R. 117.) Appellant also would deposit his social security income, Fidelity Investments income and transferred money from his business into the Barnes Bank account (R. 303.) Appellant employed this method of finance management to avoid further loss of his premarital assets to garnishment procedure by his former wife. (R. 300-02.) This methodology was reaffirmed by the Appellant several times during the trial and was neither secretive nor a fact withheld to Appellee. Appellee testified that the Appellant transferred money through his mother's account and then through his premarital Fidelity Investments accounts. (R. 147, 153.)

Appellee testified that the Appellant had been married twice before and that he was fearful of his ex-wife accessing his money. (R. 156-57, 160.) Appellant did not dispute this testimony. (R. 300-03.) Appellee consented to and did not object to the method by which Appellant managed his banking through the use of his mother's name. (R. 158.) Appellee admitted that she had no ownership in any of Appellant's accounts (R. 174), and never had a joint account with Appellant (R. 175). Appellee made no contributions of her own into Appellant's accounts. (R. 176.) Appellant affirmed her testimony that there were never any joint accounts, that he never signed any of Appellee's checks, and that Appellee had no authority to sign any of his checks. (R. 326.)

Appellant's testimony and evidence as to sources of funds and marital transfers

Appellant's rebuttal testimony and evidence was that he had the following

financial accounts: Exhibits 9, 11, 20, 30, 31, 36, 37, 44, 45, 47.

Capital One Account. (Ex. 20; R. 424.)

This was the depository of funds Appellant received from the decree in his former divorce, Betty Liston, of ½ of her IRA account which was entirely premarital to this case and not in dispute. (R. 364, 366-67.) Appellant stopped contributing to this account in 1998. (R. 367.) Appellant received \$7,700.00 from his portion of his ex wife's Betty Liston's IRA in that divorce action in the Second District Court, and withdrew \$8,160.00 from that same account to comply with a minimum required distribution from the account. (R. 365.) These funds were transferred into account Z83225584 which was closed. (R. 367.)

Fidelity Investments Account Z83225584 (Exhibits 47-50.)

This account was the repository of Appellant's pre-marital Capital One account.

Appellee's expert, Rebecca Schreyer, testified that she made an assumption that the entire portion of Appellant's premarital IRA funds were transferred into the Z83225584 account in making conclusions that transactions made during the marriage involved marital funds. (R. 211.) Appellant rebutted those assumptions and testified that he did not transfer either his premarital IRA accounts (129-182680, 2B923460) into this account. (R. 370.) He testified that a withdrawal was required under what was called a "minimum required distribution" transaction on December 31, 2007. At that time Appellant transferred \$8,160.05 from IRA account 129-182680 into account Z83225584. (R. 370-71.)

On March 28, 2008, the entire account of Z83225584 was transferred into Fidelity

Investments account number Z71675385 which account was under Appellant's name only. This was done to consolidate statements into a single statement and to transfer all funds into Appellant's name. (R. 372.)

Court Exhibit #105 responds to Appellee's Exhibit #28: a letter from Rebecca Schreyer CPA which were her conclusions, based on her assumptions and research of Appellant's financial accounts.

Fidelity Investments account X29175706 Ex. 31-35. Appellant made deposits of \$10,000.00, \$63,000.00 and \$4,500.00 respectively into this account which funds were gifts from his mother. (R. 437; Ex. 32-35.) Appellant testified that his Exhibit 1, the Fidelity Investment Account Z29175706 (Appellee's Ex. 31) originated with a \$10,000.00 deposit which was a gift from his mother, Lorena, in December 2000 over two years prior to the parties' marriage. (R. 333.) He testified that the entire source of funds into this account came from gifts by his mother, Lorena Liston. (R. 347-48, 352.) His testimony was further that earnings were placed in other accounts. (R. 352.)

Fidelity Investments account X-29-253-162 held in Appellee Annette Liston's name only. (Ex. 36.) Appellant freely admitted to transferring funds from all other accounts into this account during the marriage for an approximate six month period to shield and protect those assets from access by his former wife, Betty Liston. He never intended to share any interest therein with Appellee. (R. 345-47, 354.) When the perceived threat no longer existed, he transferred the funds into Fidelity Investments account Z-85-347442 and closed the account ending in 162. (R. 355.)

Fidelity Investments account Z-85-347442. (Ex. 37.) This account was created

on November 29, 2004 with a beginning balance of \$30,000.00 which came from a transfer of funds from the Barnes Bank which Appellant considered his personal account but which was in his mother's name, Lorena Liston. (R. 355-56.) Appellee's witness, Rebecca Schreyer testified that this beginning balance was Appellee's premarital property. (R. 215.)

All funds originally held and transacted in account ending in #706 were eventually deposited into Fidelity Account ending in #442. (R. 360.)

Barnes Bank. (Ex. 59.) Appellant employed this account to deposit earnings from Mountain Lion Engineering and to pay business operating expenses from that business. No cash gifts from Appellant's mother were deposited into this account. (R. 357.)

Appellant established his "**Liston Family Trust**" in 1999 which held all of his accounts and was established for the benefit of his two daughters and grandson (R. 335), and to protect the assets from garnishment by his former wife, Betty Liston. (Appellant's trial exhibit 7; R. 383-84.)

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