2010

## Liston v. Liston : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

no evidence as to the source of those funds ( R. 357, 383 422,425, 427,428,431).

The money found in Barnes Bank which showed numerous transactions had nothing to do with his mother Lorena Liston but were a fiction created by Appellant to avoid judgment collection ( R. 427-431). Further, the Barnes account shrunk because the majority of the money went to Fidelity ( R. 431). The Appellant failed to bring evidence such as taxes to show his income or gifts from his mother that he claimed ( R. 446). During the marriage accounts were closed, funds transferred, and combined causing the court to have to "unravel" what is separate and marital property in this divorce (Findings, p. 14).

Due to the complicated financial structure of the Appellant's accounts, the court was aided by an expert, Rebecca Schreyer, CPA, and also used it's own analysis ( R. 202-235). The court concluded that the CPA letter of December 18, 2009, provided the best starting point (Findings, p. 14; Petitioner's Ex 28). This letter was prepared after she reviewed the voluminous financial statements from Fidelity ( R. 207). The CPA was retained pursuant to a Court Order that was signed November 23, 2009, and entered November 30, 2009. That Order resulted from a Stipulation entered by the parties (See Attached, November 30, 2009 Order). To the knowledge of Appellant and a thorough review of the Record there was never an objection to the CPA, nor to her Report. Further, to now suggest that it is a violation of Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 26(a)(3), is not true either. She was Stipulated to by the parties and Court Ordered which is an exception to Rule 26 that is now being

announced by Appellant (See Addendum, Court Order of November 30, 2009 attached). Further, the Report was delivered to Appellant's counsel and he even corresponded with the expert ( Ex. 28, 29). It is also a stretch, as Appellant has suggested, that she claimed she was not an expert (See Appellant's Brief, p. 35). What the record states is that she did not consider herself an "expert at being an expert witness" ( R. 236). It was an attempt by the witness to be self-deprecating. The Court felt she enunciated the rules of marital distribution well ( R. 237). In any event, what is true, Appellant agreed to admit the Report and Appellant never objected to that Report or her being an expert witness ( R. 131, 227).

In many instances, the court agreed with Appellant. The court agreed with the expert's analysis that the IRA rollover account ending in account number 3460 was Appellant's premarital property and his sole property (Findings, pp. 14-15; R. 208; Petitioner's Ex. 30). The court also agreed with the CPA that the amounts found in the account ending in numbers 5706 and having a balance of \$72,065.66, was also premarital property but was added to during the marriage ( R. 209; Petitioner's Ex 31-53). The court stated that there was an argument as to this 5706 account that it was marital since subsequent activity could be seen as converting it to marital property, but that Appellee did not urge this strongly and the court prudently forebore from using this equitable approach (Findings, p. 15). The Appellant's argument seems to be stuck on this point, and goes on into detail about commingling of accounts, but this is not the basis for the court's findings.

In October 30, 2002, marital funds were added to the account 5706 (Findings, p. 15; R., 210). Ten thousand dollars in 2002, \$63,000.00 in July 2003, \$4500.00 in March of 2004. The account grew during the marriage to \$163,219.18 ( R. 210). In account ending 7442, the Lorena K. Liston account, deposits were made of \$115,000 ( R. 214). Appellant claimed the additions came from his mother but offered no evidence of this statement ( R. 338-341,343,344-345). He continues this theory in his current brief. But as was found in court, Appellant stated he was not sure of the source of funds ( R. 357). At one point, the Appellant claimed none of his earnings went into the accounts ( R. 348). But once pushed on the subject he admitted he did put money in those accounts during the marriage ( R. 349). Most unusual was his admission in court that he transferred accounts as a diversionary tactic to protect his money( R. 345).

With additions, the 5706 account grew to \$161,984.31 and that amount was transferred to another account in it's entirety to an account ending with number 3162 which was in Appellees sole name (Findings, p. 16; R. 210), This transfer occurred in June 1, 2004, and about 6 months later the money in account 3162 was again transferred to an account ending in numbers 7442, which the Appellant opened in his mothers name ( R. 212; Petitioner's Ex 35). The court found it was not Appellant's mother's money as Appellant had claimed, but instead another device to protect his accounts either from his second wife or the Appellee. The court further focused on this account ending in numbers 7442 (Findings, p. 16). The amount



transferred in January 2005 from account 3162 which was in Appellee's sole name to Lorena Liston's sole name account 7442 was \$169,415.85 (Findings, p. 16). Account 7442 was opened in November 2004 with a \$30,000 deposit from a Lorena Liston account that the court had found was held by solely by Appellant and was not for Lorena ( R. 338-341). No evidence was shown to the contrary by Appellant ( R. 343). This account was an account that Appellant channeled all of his income and expenses, including marital earnings, which were substantial during this period of time (Findings, pp. 16-17). From the Lorena Liston account which reached \$397,334.89, all monies were again transferred into Sergay Liston's sole account ®. 217). The court did not have any doubt that the \$30,000 that funded the Lorena Liston account initially, and subsequent account deposits in the total of \$95,000 comprised of marital money (Findings, p. 17). The only difference that the court had with the expert CPA was an apparent omission of \$5,000 business account deposit. The court further noted that none of the accounts discussed at this point were retirement accounts except the account previously determined to be separate property (Findings, p. 17; 210-217).

The CPA testified that a great deal of money came into the Fidelity accounts subsequent to the sale of the marital property subdivision in 2005. In April of 2005, prior to the close of the marital property subdivision the Barnes Bank Account was just \$4,000. In May 2005, after the close of the property the account grew to \$160,964.48 due to the sale of the subdivision ( R. 431; Ex 27, 40). She testified

that she “recognized that there were proceeds from the sale of the property that would have funded a lot of the deposits that were made into this account that I’ve allocated to deposits made during the marriage.” ( R. 225).

There were over \$345,000 placed into Barnes Bank during the marriage in just 10 bank statements alone ( R. 428). They had nothing to do with his mother Lorena ( R. 429). At one point, the actual value of the fidelity accounts totaled \$613,577.93, the marital portion being less ( R. 222)

In April of 2005, the Barnes Bank balance was \$4,000.00. But upon the sale of the subdivision property in May 2005 that balance jumped to \$160,964.48 due to the sale of the subdivision ( R. 431; Ex. 27, 40) The balance dropped significantly shortly after because the money went in the Fidelity Accounts and Appellant admits this ( R. 431).

The court then came to another difference with the expert CPA. The expert CPA identified an account ending in numbers 2680 as a retirement account opened on April 1, 2002 with a balance of \$123,215.12. The CPA looked at a deposit in November 2006 and a transfer to an account 5584 in December 2007 and assumed that the entire marital portion of the IRA account 2680 was transferred into account 5584. The CPA then identified a balance of \$24,924.97 which was transferred in March 2008 to account 5385 which was the last account that appears to have held funds based upon evidence presented at trial (Findings, p. 17). After hearing all the evidence provided by the parties the court found that the funds held in the account

ending in 2680 and the transactions discussed by the expert CPA did not in fact constitute either receipt or transfer of marital funds. The account was determined to be the sole account of Appellant and the \$24,924.97 transfer into account 5584 his sole property (Findings, p. 18; R. 217).

To suggest as Appellant does that Appellee does not have a marital portion in these accounts flies in the face of reason. While on one hand, the Appellant concedes that earnings during the marriage in his Mountain Lion Engineering business was marital property, he forgets to mention that the greatest source of funds accumulated in Fidelity were from the sale of the marital subdivisions that was partitioned off from the marital home (R.160, 211,214, 431). Those amounts went into Fidelity. Those amounts were identified and were marital. They bought the property together when married and worked on the subdivision together during the marriage. Appellant wants it all and does not share well, plain and simple. Perhaps he should have had a pre- or post-marital agreement which he was familiar with ( R. 349).

Based upon the court's analysis, the court adjusted the CPA calculation found on page 2 of her expert letter (See Petitioner's Ex 28), by deducting \$19,924.97 from the balance in account 5585. The sum was reached by the court by subtracting \$24,924.97 and adding \$5000 from the business check deposit during the course of the marriage and discussed above that was not in the expert CPA's calculations (Findings, p. 18). One more adjustment was made. The court deducted \$97,027

premarital value resulting in a marital interest at the time of separation in the amount of \$273,563 but the court further reduced the amount by \$513. The reason for the final deduction is that the CPA analysis included growth in the fund. The court applied a percentage of the total that included growth and determined the difference between the growth on the account determined by the expert CPA (\$293,558) and the amount determined by the court (273,050). Finally, based upon its thorough and careful analysis, the court determined that Appellee's portion of the financial accounts was \$136,525 (Findings p. 18).

Appellant's commingling diatribe misses the point that the court made in its findings. The court's analysis is much more than a discussion on commingling. It is an extensive, time consuming and accurate Findings. To further suggest that there was no evidence to identify the source of funds that were deposited during the marriage, other than Appellant's own testimony, and that they were gifts from his mother and in making numerous transactions of the same funds (which were admittedly appreciating over time) into different accounts to protect them from garnishment by his former wife, and that Appellee did not meet her burden of proof, make little sense. Appellant was employed and they bought and sold property that they worked on together during the marriage. If his elderly mother gave him money as he claimed, he clearly never showed any proof of it to the court.

With these facts in mind, as well as the deferential standard of review, see, e.g., *Leppert v. Leppert*, 2009 UT App 10, ¶ 9, 200 P.3d 223 ("We afford the trial

court considerable latitude in adjusting financial and property interests, and its actions are entitled to a presumption of validity.'" (quoting *Davis v. Davis*, 2003 UT App 282, ¶ 7, 76 P.3d 716)); *Stonehocker v. Stonehocker*, 2008 UT App 11, ¶ 44, 176 P.3d 476 ("We defer to the trial court in its findings of fact related to property valuation and distribution."), we cannot say that the trial court's fair, thorough and reasonable findings are clearly erroneous and it must be upheld.

**POINT IV. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY INTERROGATED THE APPELLANT AFTER TALKING JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR DIVORCE ACTION IN DAVIS COUNTY.**

The trial court asserted "judicial notice" as its basis for independently obtaining the court docket in Appellant's prior divorce case in the Second District Court for Davis, County and referring to it while questioning the Appellant while he was on the witness stand. (See Utah R. Evid. 201 (stating the rule for judicial notice)). While it is true that neither counsel for the parties had provided this information to the court beforehand, nor was counsel for either party given any advance notice by the court that it was conducting its own discovery into Appellant's prior divorce action and would refer to it, it is also true that there was absolutely no request or objection to the court to be heard by Appellant under Rule 201. The Rule states in pertinent part(s):

(e) Opportunity to be heard. A party is entitled upon timely request to an opportunity to be heard as to the propriety of taking judicial notice and the

tenor of the matter noticed. In the absence of prior notification, the request may be made after judicial notice has been taken...

(f) Time of taking notice. Judicial notice may be taken at any stage of the proceeding.

Ironically, the court was tipped off by Appellant's own testimony of avoiding judgments in Davis County ( R. 299-301) and became puzzled by his answers ( R. 301). The judge very astutely went online with the court's computer and pulled the docket from Davis County while Appellant's testimony continued. The judge did not ask about the Davis Court Docket action until approximately a half an hour later at which time he questioned Appellant about his previous divorce and statements ( R. 346, 347). Appellant, as opposed to what his brief says, was afforded the opportunity to look at the Docket ( R. 347). Further, no objection was made.

Rule 614 of the Utah Rules of Evidence provides:

**Rule 614. Calling and interrogation of witnesses by court.**

(a) Calling by court. The court may, on its own motion or at the suggestion of a party, call witnesses, and all parties are entitled to cross-examine witnesses thus called.

(b) Interrogation by court. The court may interrogate witnesses, whether called by itself or by a party.

( c) Objections. Objections to the calling of witnesses by the court or to interrogation by it may be made at the time or at the next available opportunity when the jury is not present.

Appellant argues that the trial judge abandoned its role as an impartial adjudicator by questioning him. Because Appellant did not object to the court's questioning, he must demonstrate plain error on appeal. *See State v. Kell*, 2002 UT

106, ¶ 45, 61 P.3d 1019 ("Because defendant did not object to the comments during the trial, we review this issue for plain error."); *see also State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1208 (Utah 1993) (stating to establish plain error a defendant must show: "(I) [a]n error exists; (ii) the error should have been obvious to the trial court; and (iii) the error is harmful").

Under rule 614(b) of the Utah Rules of Evidence, "[t]he court may interrogate witnesses, whether called by itself or by a party." In this case, the trial court questioned Appellant about the Davis County divorce where he was also hiding funds from a former wife's judgment (Findings p. 16; R346, 347).

The court questioned Appellant to help clarify perhaps whether Appellant's earlier testimony was credible or showed a pattern of deceit . "It is within the judge's prerogative to 'ask whatever questions of witnesses as in his judgment is necessary or desirable to clarify, explain or add to the evidence as it relates to the disputed issues.' " *State v. Boyatt*, 854 P.2d 550, 553 (Utah Ct.App.1993) (quoting *State v. Mellen*, 583 P.2d 46, 48 (Utah 1978)).

Further, even if it was error for the trial court to solicit testimony from Appellant, the error was harmless. "If the error was harmless, that is, if the error was sufficiently inconsequential that there is no reasonable likelihood that it affected the outcome of the case, then a reversal is not in order." " *Armed Forces Ins. Exch. v. Harrison*, 2003 UT 14, ¶ 22, 70 P.3d 35 . In this case, the trial court's questioning of

Appellant (without a jury) is "sufficiently inconsequential," *id.*, and does not warrant reversal. It is true that the judge mentions this testimony from the colloquy in its findings, but it is not plain error. From the Findings it is clear that the court relied on numerous grounds for its decision including credibility determination about Appellant. Indeed, the court weighed all the evidence and noted Appellant's pattern and method of hiding money. Moreover, Appellant's use of a 1989 7<sup>th</sup> Circuit opinion that relates to judicial notice should not be seen by this court as controlling.

Because evidence for the court's credibility determination was ample in many areas and the court did not rely solely on the disputed portion of Appellant's testimony, Appellant's plain error argument fails.

**POINT V. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY AWARDED APPELLEE ATTORNEY FEES.**

The trial court's division of debts is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See *Connell v. Connell*, 2010 UT App 139, ¶ 8, 233 P.3d 836. Similarly, an appellate court will "review a trial court's decision regarding attorney fees in a divorce proceeding for an abuse of discretion." *Id.* ¶ 6.

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